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ORETHA BEH and KIMBERLY BALKUM,
individually and on behalf of all persons
similarly situated, 1:19-CV-01417- JLS (MJR)

Plaintiffs, REPORT and RECOMMENDATION
V.
COMMUNITY CARE COMPANIONS INC.,
ALEXANDER J. CARO, MARK GATIEN,
INTERIM HEALTHCARE OF ROCHESTER,
INC., and JAMES WATSON,

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

This case has been referred to the undersigned by the Honorable John L. Sinatra,

Jr., pursuant to Section 636(b)(1) of Title 28 of the United States Code, for all pretrial

matters and to hear and report on dispositive motions for consideration by the District

Court. Before the Court is a supplemental motion for partial summary judgment (Dkt. Nos.

694, 705) brought by defendants Community Care Companions, Inc., Alexander J. Caro,

and Mark Gatien. For the following reasons, it is recommended that defendants’ motion

be denied.

BACKGROUND and PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND'

Plaintiffs Oretha Beh and Kimberly Balkum (“plaintiffs” or “named plaintiffs”)

commenced this lawsuit against defendants Community Care Companions Inc. (‘CCC"),

' Because the Court assumes familiarity with the factual background and extensive procedural history in
this case, only facts relevant to the instant motions are included here. For a review of the past case
history, allegations of the complaint, and additional facts, the Court refers to its prior Report and
Recommendations dated September 29, 2022 and March 25, 2025. (Dkt. Nos. 487; 681).
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Alexander J. Caro, Mark Gatien, Interim Healthcare of Rochester, Inc., and James
Watson (collectively “defendants”). Plaintiffs are home care workers who have alleged
that defendants violated the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq.,
(“FLSA”"), New York Codes, Rules and Regulations, 12 NYCRR § 142-2.2, and New York
Labor Law (“NYLL"), NYLL §§ 190, et seq., relative to overtime compensation, wage
payment, reimbursement of expenses, and employer notice provisions. (Dkt. No. 1).
Plaintiffs sought to bring both an FLSA collective action under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and a
class action under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. (/d.). Following the
Court’s denial of a motion to dismiss (Dkt. No. 235), plaintiffs filed a second amended
complaint on February 3, 2019, which is now the operative pleading. (Dkt. No. 242).
Plaintiffs previously moved for certification of a Rule 23 class action based on

defendants’ alleged violations of NYCRR § 142-2.2 and NYLL §§ 198(3), 195(a) and
191(1)(a). (Dkt. Nos. 400-407). Plaintiffs’ motion for class certification was granted in part
and denied in part by the District Court based on the Report and Recommendation of this
Court. (Dkt. Nos. 487; 505). The class certified by the District Court was defined as:

All persons employed by CCC as home care workers in the Western

District of New York on or after October 14, 2017 but on or before

January 3, 2020 (exclusive of any persons who have filed an

Acceptance of an Offer of Judgment in this action) who were not paid

wages by CCC within seven (7) calendar days of the end of each

workweek in which the wages were earned.
(Dkt. No. 505). Following the class certification decision, the Court entered a Case
Management Order setting deadlines for merits-phase discovery on the FLSA and NYLL

claims, FLSA collective action certification motions, and dispositive motions. (Dkt. No.

514).
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After extensive motion practice, this Court issued a Report and Recommendation
dated March 25, 2025, which addressed defendants’ motion for summary judgment and
motion to decertify the Rule 23 class; plaintiffs’ motion for approval of notice to Rule 23
class members; the parties’ counter motions for leave to maintain and to decertify the
FLSA collective; and several motions to strike. (Dkt. No. 681). By Decision and Order
dated June 23, 2025, the District Court adopted the Report and Recommendation,
resulting in the denial of defendants’ motion for summary judgment and motion to
decertify the Rule 23 class and the granting of plaintiff's motion for leave to maintain an
FLSA collective action and motion for approval of notice to class members. (Dkt. No. 701).

On June 6, 2025, while objections to the prior R&R were pending before the District
Court, defendants filed a letter motion seeking dismissal of plaintiffs’ claim for liquidated
damages on their certified class claims for late payments under NYLL § 191. (Dkt. No.
694). Defendants made this request based on an amendment to Section 198(1-a) of the
NYLL which limits the damages recoverable for violations of NYLL § 191. (/d.). Plaintiffs
filed a letter in opposition to the request. (Dkt. No. 695). The Court issued a text order
setting a deadline for defendants to file a formal motion for the relief requested. (Dkt. No.
697).

On June 30, 2025, defendants filed the instant motion for partial summary
judgment as to liquidated damages. (Dkt. Nos. 705-709). Plaintiffs filed a response in
opposition. (Dkt. Nos. 710-713). Defendants filed a reply. (Dkt. Nos. 714-715).
Defendants also filed a notice of supplemental authority. (Dkt. No. 716)

The Court heard oral argument on the supplemental motion for summary judgment

on September 11, 2025. At that time, the Court considered the matter submitted for
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decision. Subsequently, plaintiffs filed a notice of supplemental authority, to which a
response and reply have been submitted. The Court has considered those supplemental
filings. (Dkt. Nos. 723; 724; 725).

FACTS?

Defendant CCC is a home care and nurse staffing agency that specializes in hourly
and live-in care. (Dkt. No. 708, | 1). Plaintiffs were employed at CCC’s Buffalo and
Rochester locations in the title of personal care assistants (“PCAs”) and/or home health
aides (“HHAS”) (collectively referred to as “Aides”). (/d., T 2).

CCC'’s first payroll week for Aides working out of its Buffalo and Rochester offices
was for the workweek beginning on November 18, 2017. (/d.,  3). CCC’s payroll
workweek ran from Saturday to Friday. (/d., [ 4). The regular payday for Aides, including
named plaintiffs and class members, was each Friday. (/d., ] 5, 13). During all times
relevant to this action, namely November 18, 2017 through February 3, 2021, CCC
processed payroll and issued paychecks on a weekly basis. (/d., | 6).

Plaintiff Oretha Beh began working for CCC in 2017 and last worked for CCC on
May 20, 2020. (/d., 1 7; Dkt. No. 711, §] 7). CCC issued payroll checks to Beh on a weekly
payroll frequency throughout her employment. (Dkt. No. 708, || 8).

Plaintiff Kimberly Balkum began working for CCC in 2017 and last worked for CCC
on January 18, 2019. (/d., 1 9; Dkt. No. 711, 11 9). CCC issued payroll checks to Balkum

on a weekly payroll frequency throughout her employment. (Dkt. No. 708, [ 10).

2 The facts described herein are taken from the pleadings, motion papers, statements of undisputed facts,
and exhibits filed in this lawsuit. When citing a proposed fact within defendants’ statement of material
facts (Dkt. No. 708; 715), the Court has confirmed that plaintiffs’ responding statement (Dkt. No. 711)
either admits the fact or fails to specifically controvert it with evidence. See W.D.N.Y. L.R. Civ. P. 56(a).

4
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Beh and Balkum generally received a payroll check from CCC every seven days
throughout their employment with CCC. (/d., § 12; Dkt. No. 711, 9 12). All CCC Aides,
including class members, were generally paid weekly. (Dkt. No. 708, §] 14; Dkt. No. 711,
1 14).

Between October 14, 2017 and January 3, 2020, CCC made at least 13,635 late
wage payments to class members. (Dkt. No. 711, q 32). Between these dates, class
members received late payments anywhere from 1 to 131 times, with the average class
member receiving a late payment 14.3 times. (/d., § 33). In total, CCC paid class members
more than $784,773.67 in late wages during this period of time. (/d., {| 34). CCC made
1,911 wage payments to class members during this period which were four or more weeks
after the employee’s regular pay day for the workweek in which the work was performed.
(Id., 1 35). The average late payment CCC made to class members during the period was
2.5 weeks late. (/d., ] 36).3

In relevant part, plaintiffs’ second amended complaint alleges that defendants
failed to pay plaintiffs and other Aides “weekly wages within seven calendar days of the
end of the workweek in which the wages were/are earned and by no later than the regular
pay day.” (/d., § 18). Plaintiffs seek “[d]Jamages for failures to compensate each such
employee on a timely basis for work (s)he performed and/or will perform as required by
NYLL § 191(1)(a) and/or the FLSA;” “liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 260
and/or NYLL § 198(1-a) and/or § 663(1);” and “prejudgment interest, costs, and

reasonable attorney’s fees.” (/d., § 19).

3 Although defendants admit the facts and calculations included in this paragraph, they argue that
plaintiffs’ analysis is flawed and the statistics are misleading. (Dkt. No. 715).

5



Case 1:19-cv-01417-JLS-MJR  Document 726  Filed 03/11/26 Page 6 of 16

The New York State Legislature recently amended New York Labor Law Section
198(1-a) as part of the 2026 New York omnibus budget legislation. (Dkt. No. 708, ] 31
(citing N.Y. SB 3006 Budget Bill)). There has been no post-amendment order by a court
or finding by the New York State Department of Labor that defendants (individually or

‘jointly) have 'violated NYLL § 191(1)(a). (/d., ] 15).

DISCUSSION

Rule 56 Standard

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56, summary judgment is to be
granted where “there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56. A genuine issué of
material fact exists “where the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could decide in the
non-movant'’s favor.” Beyerv. Cty. of Nassau, 524 F.3d 160, 163 (2d Cir. 2008). “[V]iewing
the evidence produced in the light most favorable to the nonmovant, if a rational trier [of
fact] could not find for the nonmovant, then there is no genuine issue of material fact and
entry of summary judgment is appropriate.” Bay v. Times Mirror Magazine, Inc., 936 F.2d
112, 116 (2d Cir. 1991). When a movant has met this burden, the burden shifts to the
non-movant to bring forth evidence establishing the existence of an issue of material fact.
Linares v. McLaughlin, 423 Fed. Appx. 84, 86 (2d Cir. 2011).

In evaluating a motion for summary judgment, a court must resolve all ambiguities
and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, and it is the burden
of the moving party to demonstrate the absence of any material genuinely in dispute.
Hathaway v. Coughlin, 841 F.2d 48, 50 (2d Cir. 1988). Importantly, a court must not

“weigh the evidence, or assess the credibility of witnesses, or resolve issues of fact.”
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Victory v. Pataki, 814 F.3d 47, 59 (2d Cir. 2016) (citation omitted). However, a party
cannot defeat a motion for summary judgment by relying upon conclusory statements or
mere allegations unsupported by facts. Davis v. New York, 316 F.3d 93, 100 (2d Cir.
2002). The nonmoving party “must come forward with specific evidence demonstrating
the existence of a genuine dispute of material fact.” Brown v. Eli Lilly & Co., 654 F.3d 347,
358 (2d Cir. 2011).

Motion for Summary Judgment

Defendants seek partial summary judgment as to plaintiffs’ right to liquidated
damages on their NYLL § 191(1)(a) claims for late payment of wages. Defendants argue
the liquidated damages are not recoverable for claims such as this based on the New
York State Legislature’s recent amendment to NYLL § 198(1-a).

In this case, the class of pléintiffs certified under Rule 23 is composed of “persons
employed by CCC as home care workers [...] who were not paid wages by CCC within
seven (7) calendar days of the end of each workweek in which the wages were earned.”
(Dkt. Nos. 487; 505). This class action is premised on CCC'’s alleged violations of NYLL
§ 191(1)(a) through late payment of wages to plaintiffs.

Section 191(1)(a) requires that a manual worker “shall be paid weekly and not later
than seven calendar days after the end of the week in which the wages are earned.” This
Court has previously held that a private right of action arises under § 191(1)(a) and that
disputed issues of fact exist as to defendants’ liability for the alleged violations. (Dkt. Nos.
487, pgs. 17-19; 681, pgs. 36-37, 43-45). Throughout this case, the availability of

liquidated damages under NYLL § 198(1-a) for untimely wage payments has been
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